IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 92-4871
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS
BARNEY LEE VEI MER, JR.,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Texas
(4:92-CR-4)

(February 17, 1993)
Bef ore H G3 NBOTHAM SM TH, and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *
Bar ney Wei ner appeal s his conviction and sentence for being a
felon in possession of a firearm in violation of 18 U S C

8§ 922(g). Finding no reversible error, we affirm

" Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions that have no
precedential value and nerely decide particular cases on the basis of well-
settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens
on the | egal profession.” Pursuant to that rule, the court has deternined
that this opinion should not be published.



| .

A police officer and sheriff's deputy were driving together
t hrough Sherman, Texas, during an unrel ated i nvestigati on when the
officer noticed Weiner in possession of two rifles as he stood
anong a group of about five people. The officer had known Wi ner
since about 1981 and was aware that at sonme tinme earlier he had
arrested him for a non-violent felony offense. The officers
circled the block in their unmarked vehicle, and as t hey approached
hi ma second tine the police officer noted that Wi ner | ooked |ike
"an auctioneer with sonething he was attenpting to auction." The
sheriff's deputy stated that Weiner was holding the rifles above
his head "li ke he was showi ng themto soneone.”

The officers confiscated the weapons because the police
officer "had a very, very strong belief that [Weiner] was a felon
of an aggravated crine." According to the police officer, Winer
told himthe day of the incident that he was attenpting to sell the
rifles to some friends.

The police officer stated that he did not arrest Winer for
being a felon in possession of a firearmin violation of state | aw
because he was wunfamliar with the exact nature of Winer's
crimnal record. Under Texas | aw, a person convicted of a violent
felony may not possess a firearm away from his residence. Tex.
Penal Code. Ann. 8 46.05 (West 1989). The officer testified that
he was not aware of the federal-felon-in-possession-of-firearm
statute at the tinme of the incident. Neither of the rifles had a

round in its firing chanber, although one of them had a clip



contai ni ng two rounds.

.
A

Wei nmer argues that the district court violated his constitu-
tional rights under the Fourth and Fifth Arendnents by adm tting
the firearns into evidence. Under Fed. R Crim P. 12(b)(3), a
nmotion to suppress evidence nust be raised prior to trial. A
defendant who fails to raise a defense that nust be raised before
trial waives it unless the court for cause shown grants relief from
the waiver. Fed. R Cim P. 12(f).

Weiner did not object to admssion of the two rifles unti
after the governnent had called its first wtness and was about to
introduce theminto evidence. Winer argued that the rifles were
seized in violation of his constitutional rights because the
officer did not have a warrant and because there were no exigent
ci rcunst ances. The governnent responded by argui ng that Wei ner had
wai ved his right to object to the evidence by failing to file a
pretrial notion and, additionally, because the officer had probable
cause to seize therifles. |In response to Winer's objection, the
district court sinply directed the governnent to "go ahead."”

After the rifles were identified by the wi tness, Wi ner nade

a second objection, based upon illegal seizure, to any testinony
concerning the weapons. The district court stated that it was
"overruled at this point in tine." Wen the governnent noved to

admt theminto evidence, the trial court overruled Weinmer's third



and final objection concerning the weapons, based upon unl awf ul
seizure, wthout further elaboration.

The district court's denial of an oral notion to suppress
evi dence that was not raised prior to trial is reviewed for abuse

of discretion. United States v. Knezek, 964 F.2d 394, 397 (5th

Cr. 1992). Under Fed. R Cim P. 12(f), the district court does
not abuse its discretion by denying a suppression notion solely
because the defendant failed to raise it in a tinely nmanner.
Knezek, 964 F.2d at 397.

It is evident that Weiner never filed a notion to suppress.
Wei ner argues that he nade a "tinely objection" at trial and cites
his third oral objection as support for this proposition. After
his initial objection, Winer's counsel explained that testinony
concerning the rifles was inadm ssible because the police officer
did not have a warrant and was not acting under exigent circum
st ances. The only way this objection properly could have been
sustained is if the district court had determ ned that Wi ner had
shown "cause" and granted relief fromthe waiver.

It is not plain whether the district court overrul ed defense
counsel's objection because the defendant failed to raise it in a
tinmely manner or because the defendant did not show cause for
deserving relief from the waiver. If the former, the district
court acted properly under Knezek. If the latter, the district
court al so acted properly, as Weiner did not argue at trial, or now
on appeal, that he made a show ng that entitled himto relief from

his wai ver of the suppression issue. Additionally, there is no



indication that a constitutional challenge to the seizure woul d
survive so that the district court's decision could be chall enged

as plain error.

B

Wei mer next argues that the district court conmtted revers-
ible error because the predicate conviction for the felon-in-
possessi on count was voi d because the state record did not contain
a witten jury waiver. Under Texas |aw, a defendant may waive a
jury trial in anon-capital felony case if he does soinwitingin
open court with the consent and approval of the court and the
attorney for the state. Tex. Code Cim Proc. Ann. art. 1.13 (West
Supp. 1993).

A defendant entering a plea cannot be convicted of a felony
until the requirenents of article 1.13 are satisfied. The
defendant's wai ver of his rights and consent to establish evidence
of guilt by alternative neans "nust be approved by the court in
witing, and be filed in the file of the papers of the cause.”
Tex. Code C&rim Proc. Ann. art. 1.15 (West Supp. 1993).

At trial, the governnent established evidence of only one of
Weiner's prior convictions. This was acconplished by show ng t hat
his fingerprints taken at the tine of his arrest matched the prints
contained in his penitentiary packet, which included a 1988
j udgnent of conviction agai nst Weiner for robbery in No. 35380.

Weinmer did not contest this evidence at trial. Instead, he

called the chief deputy of the district clerk's office for the



state courts in Grayson County, Texas, to testify that Winer's
signed waiver-of-trial-by-jury docunent could not be l|ocated in
No. 35380. The district court struck all the testinony establish-
ing that no signed wai ver existed in the state court files. Winer
contended at trial, and renews his objection on appeal, that the
state's failure to produce the signed waiver formfor the trial for
robbery denonstrates that the earlier conviction was void. As a
result, he argues there was i nsufficient evidence to convict himof
being a felon in possession of a firearm The docunent contai ning
the signed waiver formin No. 35380 was | ocated prior to sentenc-
ing, and a certified copy was entered into evidence at the
sent enci ng heari ng.

Wiile the penitentiary packet did not contain the signed
wai ver form it did contain a duplicate of the judgnent (described
as a "Judgnent on Plea of Quilty Before Court )) Waiver of Jury
Trial") signed by the presiding state court judge. The judgnent
stated that Winer understood the rights he was waiving and the
consequences of his actions and that his plea was voluntary. The
judgnment further specified that the defendant, his counsel, and t he
county attorney "announced in open Court that they, and each of
them agreed in witing to waive a jury in this cause and to submt
this cause to the Court, and the Court having consented to the
wai ver of a jury . . . ." Id.

A certified copy of judgnent is an adm ssible self-authenti-
cating docunent. Fed R Evid. 902, 1003. Since Weiner does not

raise a genuine question as to the authenticity of the origina



docunent, the duplicate is admssible to the sane extent as the
original. Fed. R Evid. 1003. Because the docunent entered into
evidence at trial was a copy of a certified copy of a dated
docunent containing a seal, the signature of the presiding judge,
and a deputy clerk, it is authentic for purposes of Fed. R Evid.
902(1), (4).

The rul e does not require that Weiner's signed wai ver form be

part of the record in order for the judgnent to be self-authenti-

cating. See United States v. Dancy, 861 F.2d 77, 79 (5th Gr.
1988). A prior crimnal proceeding is treated as a conviction if
the jurisdiction that conducted the proceedings treats it as one.

Id.; see United States v. Darveaux, 830 F.2d 124, 126 (8th GCr.

1987); Reed v. State, 811 S.W2d 582, 584-88 (Tex. Crim App.

1991) .

C.

Wi ner al so argues that the conviction was inproper because
there was insufficient evidence that he was in possession of the
firearns at the time of his arrest. Weinmer did not nove for a
judgnent of acquittal at the close of the governnent's case or
renew the notion at the conclusion of all the evidence, as required
by Fed. R Cim P. 29(a). Further, Winer's notion for judgnent
of acquittal was not nade within seven days after the jury returned
a guilty verdict as specified in Fed. R Cim P. 29(c).

When a defendant fails to nove for a judgnent of acquittal at

the time the governnent rests its case or at the close of all the



evidence, we reviewonly for plain error or a mani fest m scarri age

of justice. United States v. Pierre, 958 F.2d 1304, 1310 (5th

Cr.) (en banc), cert. denied, 113 S. . 280 (1992). Justice is

frustrated only if the record contains no evidence pointing to
guilt or if crucial evidence on a key part of the offense was so
attenuated that a conviction would be shocki ng. Id. (citations
omtted).

At trial, the governnent established that Winer was in
possession of the rifles when the officers first noticed him and
after they drove around the bl ock, that Weinmer adm tted that he was
attenpting to sell the rifles, and that none of the people near
Wei ner cl ai med possession of the weapons. The record sufficiently
denonstrates that there was neither plain error nor a mscarriage
of justice in the jury's determnation that Winer, as a felon

know ngly possessed the weapons.

D

Finally, Winer argues that the district court m stakenly
applied the sentencing guidelines in ruling that he was an arned
career crimnal under US. S.G 8§ 4B1.4 (Nov. 1992). An arned
career crimnal is a person who is subject to an enhanced sentence
under 18 U.S.C. §8 924(e). U.S.S.G 8§ 4B1.4. Under section 924(e),
a person convicted of being a felon in possession of a firearmwho
has three previ ous convictions for violent fel onies or serious drug
of fenses, or a conbination of the two that are commtted on

different occasions, will be sentenced to a termof not |ess than



fifteen years and a fine not exceeding $25, 000.

After the jury returned a guilty verdict, the governnent
entered into evidence three 1981 state convictions of Weiner's that
i ncluded two for burglary of a building (Nos. 31525 and 32018) and
one for burglary with intent to conmt a felony (No. 32167). The
governnent also offered evidence of several state anphetam ne
convictions and the robbery conviction that was the predicate
conviction for the fel on-in-possession count.

Wei ner objected, prior to sentencing, to being scored as an
arnmed career offender on the ground that the robbery and drug
convictions took place wthout waiver of jury trial and were
therefore invalid. He also argued that his drug convictions were
not crines of violence. At the sentencing hearing, Winer stated
that his only objection was to the absence of the signed waiver
formns.

During the sentencing hearing, the governnent provided a
certified copy of Weiner's signed waiver of trial by jury for the
1988 convi ctions that included robbery (No. 35380), three different
anphet am ne charges (Nos. 34529, 34852, and 36503), and unaut ho-
rized use of a notor vehicle (No. 35704). Al the anphetam ne
charges i nvol ved | ess than twenty-ei ght grans and were descri bed as
unl awf ul possession of a controlled substance. Wei ner pl eaded
guilty to Nos. 34529, 34852, 35380, 35740, and 36503 in the sane
sent enci ng heari ng.

The district court adopted the findings of fact and recommen-

dati ons concerning the applicabl e guideline range contained in the



presentence investigation report. The district court asked
Wei ner's counsel whether "assumng that we count the previous
convictions, then, you don't have any objections to the manner in
whi ch the guidelines were calculated." Defense counsel responded
that he did not. Wiile the district court nmade no statenent
explaining its actions at sentencing, it is plain that it dis-
counted Weiner's argunent on the ground that the governnent had
sufficiently established Weiner's previous convictions.

On appeal, Wi nmer changes the thrust of his objection. He now
clains that his possession offenses are not tantanobunt to serious
drug of fenses as defined by section 924(e) and that he did not have
a sufficient nunber of prior convictions to nerit arned career
of fender status. We will not consider issues raised for the first
time on appeal unless they involve purely |egal questions and
failure to consider them would result in manifest 1injustice.

United States v. Garcia-Pillado, 898 F.2d 36, 39 (5th Cr. 1990).

There is no manifest injustice in this case. Weiner is
correct in pointing out that his state drug convictions do not
qualify as serious drug offenses under section 924(e)(2) (A (ii),
because that section refers to state offenses "invol ving manuf ac-
turing, distributing, or possessing with intent to manufacture or
distribute.” Al though the maxi mumtermof inprisonnent for each of
Weiner's three anphetam ne offenses was ten years in accordance
wth one requirenment of section 924(e)(2)(A)(ii), they were for
possessi on and di d not i nvol ve manufacture or distribution and thus

did not fulfill the other requirenent of that section. See Tex.

10



Heal th Code Ann. art. 4476-15 88 4.02(b)(3), (c), 4.04(b)(3) (West
1976) .

There is no such question, however, regarding Winer's
burglary convictions or his robbery conviction. The statute
unequi vocal |y establishes that a burglary punishable by a term of
i npri sonnment exceeding one year IS a violent fel ony.
8§ 924(e)(2)(B). Weinmer was sentenced to a mni numof two years on
each of his three burglary convictions. Further, the robbery
qualified as a violent fel ony under section 924(e)(2)(B), as Wi ner
concedes, because the offense carried a mninmm sentence of two
years. Thus, contrary to Weiner's clains, his burglaries al one, or
two of the burglaries and the robbery conviction, add up to the
requi site three previous violent felony offenses that trigger the
arnmed career crimnal section of the guidelines.

AFF| RMED.
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